STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

**RECEIVED**

OCT 06 2017

Appeal from Oconee County

J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SHANE ADAM BURDETTE,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000513

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial judge violate Appellant's rights pursuant to the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution by permitting the introduction of statements he gave during custodial interrogation based on the totality of the circumstances, including (1) the first officer, who advised him of his rights, informing Appellant the rights did not mean anything, (2) Appellant's intoxication, (3) the length of the interrogation, and (4) the officer's failure to honor his request for counsel, which rendered Appellant unable to voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waive his rights?
- II. Did the trial judge violate Appellant's rights pursuant to the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution by permitting the introduction of a statement given by Appellant during custodial interrogation where the police requested Appellant sign his statement after he requested counsel?
- III. Did the trial judge violate Appellant's rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution by refusing to qualify his witness as an expert in the area of ballistics and refusing to permit the witness to testify regarding his opinion based on observations?
- IV. Did the trial judge err by instructing the jury that malice may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon where the evidence presented would reduce, mitigate, excuse, or justify the homicide because the instruction impermissibly shifted the burden of proof to Appellant and reduced the state's burden of proving each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt?
- V. Did the trial judge err in sentencing Appellant to consecutive terms of imprisonment based upon his mistaken belief that his discretion was restricted in such a way that he was required to order consecutive sentences where neither statute nor case law restricted the judge's discretion in sentencing?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 28, 2013, an Oconee County grand jury indicted Appellant for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime in a single indictment (2013-GS-37-1039). R. 492-493. The state, represented by David Wagner, Jr., called the case for trial before the Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., and a jury on February 23, 2015. R. 1. W. Wilson Burr represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty of the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. R. 473, lines 19-21. The jury also found Appellant guilty of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 473, line 22 – R. 474, line 1. Judge Maddox sentenced Appellant to twenty-five years' imprisonment suspended upon the service of fifteen years' imprisonment and probation for five years. R. 477, lines 11-15; R. 494. He also sentenced Appellant to five years' imprisonment to be served consecutively with the sentence for involuntary manslaughter. R. 477, lines 20-24; R. 495.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

## ARGUMENT

I. The trial judge violated Appellant's rights pursuant to the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution by permitting the introduction of statements he gave during custodial interrogation based on the totality of the circumstances, including (1) the first officer, who advised him of his rights, informing Appellant the rights did not mean anything, (2) Appellant's intoxication, (3) the length of the interrogation, and (4) the officer's failure to honor his request for counsel, which rendered Appellant unable to voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently waive his rights.

### **Relevant facts**

On the morning of July 9, 2013, Officer John Towery arrived at the scene of a shooting. R. 2, lines 17-20. Towery encountered Appellant and advised him of his rights pursuant to Miranda v. Arizona, 384.U.S. 426 (1966). R. 3, lines 8-11. To do so, Towery used a form provided by the Sheriff's Office. R. 3, lines 12-19; R. 478. Towery "put [Appellant] in the back [of his] patrol car." R. 4, line 14.

When Towery and Appellant interacted around 7:30 a.m. on July 9, 2013, Towery noticed Appellant appeared to be under the influence of drugs and alcohol. R. 6, lines 8-10; R. 8, line 23. Appellant was shouting, his speech was "very rushed," and he appeared to be having a "very high-type [of] experience." R. 6, lines 10-12. Also, Appellant was slurring his words. R. 6, lines 19-20. Towery said Appellant "didn't really understand what he was talkin' [about]." R. 6, line 13. Towery recalled Appellant was "just runnin' on and on about, you know, he didn't mean to do it that that, you know, that that he did not mean to do [it]." R. 6, lines 22-24.

Sergeant Justin Ward arrived on the scene around 8:20 a.m. R. 47, lines 5-7. He encountered Appellant very early. R. 47, lines 8-13. He described Appellant as appearing “very, uh excited, and uh, uh, outta sorts.” R. 48, lines 1-2.

While advising Appellant of his rights, Towery said, “This does not mean anything, it’s just somethin’ the law [says] we gotta do.” R. 9, lines 8-11. When asked if he “took away all the meaning of the rights advisements” by saying “it doesn’t mean anything,” Towery responded, “It coulda been.” R. 9, lines 12-15.

Investigator Amanda Tinsley arrived on the scene around 8:30 a.m. while Appellant was in Towery’s patrol car. R. 11, lines 17-22. Tinsley advised Appellant of his rights as well, beginning at 9:46 a.m. and ending at 9:48 a.m. R. 12, lines 1-13; R. 479. Tinsley then interrogated Appellant regarding his involvement in the shooting death of the deceased. R. 14, line 18 – R. 18, line 18. Thereafter, Tinsley asked Appellant to provide a written statement. R. 18, lines 19-21; R. 482. This statement was concluded at 1:47 p.m. with Appellant having been transported to the Sheriff’s Department and placed in a locked interrogation room. R. 23, lines 1-2; R. 59, line 21 – R. 60, line 4.

Near the end of this interrogation, the police asked Appellant to take a polygraph. R. 49, line 24 – R. 50, line 1. Appellant responded that he wanted a lawyer. R. 24, lines 8-15. According to Tinsley, the police stopped talking to Appellant “[a]t that point in time.” R. 24, lines 16-18. However, Ward was clear that after Appellant requested an attorney, Ward asked him to sign the statement he had prepared and swear to it. R. 50, lines 2-7. Only when the police had the signed statement did the interrogation cease per Appellant’s request for the presence of counsel. R. 50, lines 8-10.

Tinsley claimed Appellant re-initiated the interrogation at approximately 5:45 p.m. by turning off the light and banging on the table or wall in the locked interrogation room. R. 25, lines 4-6. Tinsley further claimed Appellant said he wanted to add information to his statement. R. 25, lines 7-9. Tinsley advised Appellant of his rights again. R. 25, lines 14-25; R. 480. Appellant then provided oral and written statements to law enforcement. R. 25, line 22 – R. 27, line 21; R. 484-485. Tinsley took notes during this interrogation, which she requested Appellant sign prior to requesting Appellant provide a written statement. R. 30, lines 13-20; R. 43, lines 23-24; R. 488-490. Appellant's second written statement concluded at 7:54 p.m. R. 29, lines 10-11. Tinsley also asked Appellant to use a diagram during this interrogation. R. 29, lines 16-21; R. 491.

After Appellant provided the written statement, the police confronted him with information they claimed contradicted his story. R. 32, lines 1-11. Appellant told the officers he was tired and wanted to sleep. R. 32, lines 15-20. Tinsley placed Appellant under arrest for murder and transported him to the detention center. R. 32, lines 21-23.

The following day around lunch time, the officers removed Appellant from the jail and took him to the Sheriff's Office where the interrogation resumed. R. 32, line 24 – R. 33, line 16. Tinsley warned Appellant of his rights again. R. 33, line 21-25; R. 481. In addition to giving an oral statement, Appellant provided a third written statement. R. 34, lines 13-14; R. 486-487.

At the close of the hearing, defense counsel argued Appellant's statements should be excluded based on Towery telling Appellant "the warnings he was about to give him did not mean anything" and Towery's observation that Appellant "appeared to be intoxicated." R. 61, lines 15-19. Defense counsel argued the errors in the initial Miranda warnings tainted all

subsequent interrogations. R. 61, lines 19-21. The trial judge ruled that anything Appellant said to Towery was excluded because “you can’t tell somebody this doesn’t really matter.” R. 63, lines 7-10. However, the judge ruled Appellant’s subsequent statements to law enforcement were admissible because new Miranda warnings were given. R. 64, lines 7-12.

### **Discussion**

In Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 376 (1964), the United States Supreme Court held that “a defendant in a criminal case is deprived of due process of law if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession, without regard for the truth or falsity of the confession.” To introduce a statement produced during custodial interrogation, the prosecution must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement was made freely and voluntarily, and taken in compliance with Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 426 (1966). State v. Goodwin, 384 S.C. 588, 601, 683 S.E.2d 500, 507 (Ct. App. 2009); State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 378, 652 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2007).

It is not enough that the interrogator advised the suspect of his rights and the suspect made an uncoerced statement. The prosecution must show that the accused understood the rights. Berghuis v. Thompkins, 560 U.S. 370, 384 (2010) (citing Colorado v. Spring, 479 U.S. 564, 573-575 (1987); Connecticut v. Barrett, 479 U.S. 523, 530 (1987)). Thus, “[t]he waiver inquiry ‘has two distinct dimensions’: waiver must be ‘voluntary in the sense that it was the product of a free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion, or deception,’ and ‘made with a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it.’” Id. at 382-383 (quoting Moran v. Burbine, 475 U.S. 421, 421 (1986)); see also Johnson v. Zerbst, 304 U.S. 458, 464

(1938)(“A waiver is ordinarily an intentional relinquishment or abandonment of a known right or privilege.”).

In South Carolina, a court must examine the totality of the circumstances surrounding the custodial statement. The examining court must answer the question: did totality of the circumstances surrounding the custodial statement defeat the defendant’s will? State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 513, 702 S.E.2d 395, 401 (Ct. App. 2010).

Courts have recognized appropriate factors that may be considered in a totality of the circumstances analysis: background; experience; conduct of the accused; age; maturity; physical condition and mental health; length of custody or detention; police misrepresentations; isolation of a minor from his or her parent; the lack of any advice to the accused of his constitutional rights; threats of violence; direct or indirect promises, however slight; lack of education or low intelligence; repeated and prolonged nature of the questioning; exertion of improper influence; and the use of physical punishment, such as the deprivation of food or sleep.

Id. at 513-514, 702 S.E.2d at 401 (internal citations omitted).

#### *Intoxication*

Clearly, a defendant’s level of intoxication is a factor to consider when determining whether a defendant waived his rights in a knowing and voluntary manner. See State v. Young, 875 P.2d 1119, 1122 (N.M. Ct. App. 1994)(explaining the “[d]etermination of whether a defendant validly waived his rights depends upon the totality of the circumstances, including the defendant’s mental and physical condition and his conduct,” which necessarily includes intoxication). However, in some cases, intoxication *alone* may result in an involuntary and unknowing waiver. In State v. Saxon, 261 S.C. 523, 529, 201 S.E.2d 114, 117 (1973), the South Carolina Supreme Court held “[t]he fact that one is intoxicated at the time a confession is made does not necessarily render him incapable of comprehending the meaning and effect of his words.” Therefore, intoxication alone “does

not render the statement inadmissible as a matter of law.” Id. The intoxication must be “such that [the accused] did not realize what he was saying.” Id.

The Ninth Circuit held a defendant’s confession was inadmissible where the defendant “was in a state of gross intoxication.” Gladden v. Unsworth, 396 F.2d 373, 380-381 (9th Cir. 1968)(explaining that “[i]f by reason of mental illness, use of drugs or extreme intoxication, the confession could not be said to be the product of a rational intellect and a free will, ..., it is not admissible and its reception in evidence constitutes a deprivation of due process”). Likewise, the District Court for the Middle District of North Carolina found a confession inadmissible where the defendant “was under the influence of alcohol and drugs to such an extent as to affect his judgment.” Logner v. State, 260 F.Supp. 970, 975 (M.D.N.C. 1966). As explained by the court, “[a] person who has lost control of his mental faculties is incapable of making an admissible confession.” Id. at 976.

*Advisement of Rights – Does not mean anything*

In 1966, the United State Supreme Court issued its landmark decision Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966). As explained by the Court in Duckworth v. Eagan, 492 U.S. 195, 201 (1989), Miranda established “certain procedural safeguards that require police to advise criminal suspects of their rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments before commencing custodial interrogation.” In Miranda, the Court delineated four specific warnings: “(1) the right to remain silent; (2) that anything he says can be used against him in a court of law; (3) that he has the right to the presence of an attorney, and (4) that if he cannot afford an attorney one will be appointed for him prior to any questioning if he wants.” Miranda, 384 U.S. at 479. Concerned that the circumstances surrounding a custodial interrogation can quickly overbear one’s will, the Court held advising an

individual of his right to consult with a lawyer and to have the lawyer present during interrogation was “an absolute prerequisite to interrogation.” Id. at 471.

It is in the very case of Miranda that the Supreme Court disapproved of the conduct used by the police in this case. Explaining why the Court would require the warnings to be given in every instance of custodial interrogation, the Court provided an example of an officer using psychological condition to overcome a suspect’s refusal to talk. Id. at 454. In the example, the officer informed the suspect of his right to remain silent and noted the officer was “the last person in the world” who would try to take that right away. Id. The officer went on to ask the suspect to reverse roles and to imagine would the suspect would think if the officer refused to answer questions. Id. According to the officer, the suspect would think the officer had something to hide and would probably be right in thinking that. Id. In another example, the Court noted a common police ploy of dissuading a suspect from exercising his right to speak with an attorney by suggesting the suspect first tell the truth to the interrogator, instead of involving someone else. Id. The interrogator would also note the suspect could save the expense of the professional services of a lawyer if the suspect would simply cooperate with the investigation. Id.

*Totality of the Circumstances*

The totality of the circumstances surrounding the custodial interrogations in the present case requires exclusion of his statements to law enforcement. Towery’s statement that the rights did not mean anything completely nullified his advisement of rights. Towery’s statement runs counter to the very purpose of providing the rights and the Constitutional requirement that individuals be advised of their rights. Appellant was interrogated for well over twelve hours. He first encountered Towery around 7 a.m. He was

in police custody continuously from that point forward. He was finally placed into the detention after he told the officers he was tired, which occurred sometime after the conclusion of his final written statement of that day – 7:54 p.m. R. 484. While it is true the interrogation was not continuous, his detention certainly was. The interrogation continued the following day when law enforcement removed Appellant from the jail and re-initiated contact. Further, at least two of Appellant’s interrogators admitted he appeared to be under the influence or, at a minimum, “outta sorts.” Finally, the officers failed to honor Appellant’s request for counsel near the end of the first interrogation. This was a clear indication to Appellant that Towery was absolutely correct and the advisement of rights really did “not mean anything.” The totality of these circumstances requires exclusion of Appellant’s statements to law enforcement.

*Subsequent Interrogations Tainted*

The officers’ provisions of Miranda warnings subsequent to Towery’s cavalier admonition that the warnings did “not mean anything” were tainted by Towery’s improper and coercive conduct. In Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600 (2004), The United States Supreme Court confronted a case very similar to the one presented in the instant matter. Officers awakened Seibert at 3 a.m. and transported her to the police station. There, an officer questioned Seibert for thirty to forty minutes without giving her Miranda warnings. During this discussion, the officer obtained an admission from Seibert that she knew a mentally-ill teenager living with her family was meant to die in a house fire, which was set to cover up the death of Seibert’s disabled child. After obtaining this admission, the officer permitted Seibert a twenty-minute break. Id. at 604-605.

The officer then turned on a tape recorder and gave Seibert the Miranda warnings. He also obtained a written waiver of those rights from her. The officer resumed questioning of Seibert by confronting her with her prewarning statements. Again, the officer obtained the answer he wanted – that Seibert knew the teenager was supposed to die in the fire. Id. at 605.

At trial, the officer testified that he used an interrogation technique in which he questioned the witness first, then gave the warnings, and then repeated the questioning until he got the answer that the witness had already provided once. Id. at 605-606. The trial judge suppressed Seibert’s prewarning statements, but admitted the postwarning statements. Id. at 606. The United States Supreme Court held this was in error.

The Court explained “[t]he object of question-first is to render Miranda warnings ineffective by waiting for a particularly opportune time to give them, after the suspect has already confessed.” Id. at 611. Thus, the “threshold issue when interrogators question first and warn later is thus whether it would be reasonable to find that in these circumstances the warnings could function ‘effectively’ as Miranda requires.” Id. at 611-612. The Court held “when Miranda warnings are inserted in the midst of coordinated and continuing interrogation, they are likely to mislead and ‘deprive a defendant of knowledge essential to his ability to understand the nature of his rights and the consequences of abandoning them.’” Id. at 613-614 (quoting Moran, 475 U.S. at 424).

The facts presented in Seibert were that the unwarned interrogation was conducted in the police station, and “the questioning was systematic, exhaustive, and managed with psychological skill.” Officers paused only for twenty minutes before resuming questioning and providing the required warnings. Officers “said nothing to counter the probable

misimpression that the advice that anything Seibert said could be used against her also applied to the details of the inculpatory statement previously elicited.” Through the style of questioning employed which included repeated references to prior responses, the officers fostered the impression that further questioning was a mere continuation of the earlier questions. Id. at 616. Thus, “these circumstances must be seen as challenging the comprehensibility and efficacy of the Miranda warnings to the point that a reasonable person in the suspect’s shoes would not have understood them to convey a message that she retained a choice about continuing to talk.” Id. at 617.

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