ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Appeal from Oconee County

FEB 05 2016

J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

SHANE ADAM BURDETTE,

APPELLANT,

Appellate Case No. 2015-000513

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

SUSANNAH R. COLE
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 68383

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0265

CHRISTINA T. ADAMS
Solicitor, Tenth Circuit
100 South Main St.
Anderson, SC 29624
(864) 260-4046

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

The evidence supports the trial court's refusal to qualify Belmore as an expert in ballistics. Belmore had no knowledge, skill, experience, training or education specifically related to ballistics, or the motion of projectiles. Rather, it appears he merely studied the pellet before trial, which he indicated in his proffered testimony to the court. Appellant intended to ask Belmore to compare the abrasions on the pellet retrieved from the victim's body to that of the lead retrieved from the rear of the shooting range. Professionally, Belmore was an owner of a shooting range, a firearms instructor at the range, a gunsmith, and a retailer of firearms. Though Belmore need not necessarily have been employed as a ballistics analyst with SLED to be qualified as an expert, he did need to have some experience studying the motion of projectiles in order to offer his opinion whether the pellet appeared to have ricocheted off the ground before striking the victim.

Belmore's only experience relevant to his proffered testimony concerning the ricocheted pellet was his participation in the lead removal from the gun club. Belmore had no training, held no certifications, and had no professional experience studying the markings of projectiles. Belmore had no experience examining projectiles in any

scientific capacity or in any reliable format. Belmore did not offer any experience in conducting or witnessing tests of ricocheted bullets, only that he removed the lead en masse to comply with DHEC's disposal program. Thus, Belmore offered no explanation of how he would know which particular bullets had struck the ground before striking the berm so that he could make the comparison of those bullets to the pellet that struck the victim. His means of comparison—a visual inspection of the lead waste during its removal—was not a reliable form of testing ricochet patterns. Because the inspection was not in a controlled setting, he could not know whether the bullets struck the ground or each other as they were ejected from the firearm before ricocheting off into the berm. Moreover, Belmore had no experience in examining projectiles removed from the human body after striking bone. Belmore lacked any experience in knowing whether the pellet's striking of the victim's spine could also cause the deformity on the pellet.

In the role of gatekeeper, the trial judge permitted Belmore to testify about the wear and functionality of the gun, which were properly within his purview. The judge did not abuse his discretion in finding the defense expert was not qualified as an expert because Belmore lacked experience and his basis for comparison lacked reliability. Therefore, the court committed no error by prohibiting Belmore from offering an opinion on whether the pellet ricocheted off the ground before striking the victim.

ISSUE IV

The trial judge erred in instructing the jury malice may be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon where the evidence may have reduced or mitigated the charge of murder, but the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the jury's rejection of the verdict of murder in favor of voluntary manslaughter.

Appellant correctly asserts the trial judge should not have given the implied malice instruction to the jury, but he cannot show how the judge's error contributed to the jury's verdict of voluntary manslaughter. When considering whether an error with respect to a jury instruction was harmless, the court must "determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict." *State v. Middleton*, 407 S.C. 312, 317, 755 S.E.2d 432, 435, reh'g denied (Apr. 2, 2014), cert. denied, 135 S. Ct. 196, 190 L. Ed. 2d 152 (U.S.S.C. 2014) (quoting *State v. Kerr*, 330 S.C. 132, 144–45, 498 S.E.2d 212, 218 (Ct. App. 1998)). Voluntary manslaughter involves an intentional act on the part of the perpetrator but lacks the element of malice. *State v. Blassingame*, 271 S.C. 44, 46, 244 S.E.2d 528, 529 (1978). Because the instruction pertained to the finding of malice, and the jury rejected the charge of murder, the instruction did not contribute to the verdict and the judge's error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

How the Issue Was Raised at Trial

After the trial judge's questioning of Appellant concerning the waiver of his right to testify, the court offered copies of his jury charge to counsel, then took a five minute recess to allow counsel to review the charge. The judge and defense counsel engaged in the following discussion:

THE COURT: Any changes, objections from the State?

MR. WAGNER: No, sir.

THE COURT: From the defense?

MR. BURR: Yes, your Honor. On page 19 of your instructions --

THE COURT: Hold on a second. Okay.

MR. BURR: First full paragraph, second paragraph, "Malice may be inferred from conduct showing a total disregard for human life."

THE COURT: Yep.

MR. BURR: "Inferred malice may also arise when the deed is done with a deadly weapon." I would object to that portion of that instruction, your Honor.

THE COURT: Why?

MR. BURR: I don't think we can infer there was a total -- based on the evidence presented, there's no -- we can't have any inference of total disregard for human life.

THE COURT: Say that again.

MR. BURR: There's been evidence presented on accident which would be in mitigation. So this inference leads to an improper conclusion.

THE COURT: Okay. Let me look at accident. Because, basically, we're giving them the option, and I took some language out of the accident portion -- hold on a second. Okay. I understand why you'd want that. I mean, it goes to the weight and goes to one of the things they have got to decide is whether or not there was a total disregard, but --

MR. BURR: Your Honor, if I may.

THE COURT: Yeah.

MR. BURR: The footnote that goes with that --

THE COURT: Right

MR. BURR: -- kind of excludes that.

THE COURT: Well, it says, "Where evidence is presented that will reduce, mitigate, excuse or justify." Actually that should not have been in there. That was a note to me. "But with intent to kill, the jury shall not be charged." Well, there's been evidence potentially that could reduce or mitigate. There's also been evidence that they did not. And I'll be very clear that the State has to prove malice by proof beyond a reasonable doubt. I understand your objection. You actually got a private note to me that was printed, so.

MR. BURR: Thank you.

(R. p. 408, line 1 – p. 409, line 22.) Thus, Appellant's objection to the jury instruction was properly preserved for review. The judge later instructed the jury:

Express malice is shown when a person speaks words which express hatred or ill will for another, or when the person prepared beforehand to do the act which was later accomplished. For example, lying in wait for a person or any other acts of preparation going to show that the deed was within the defendant's mind could be express and would be express malice. Malice may be inferred from conduct showing a total disregard for

human life. Inferred malice may also arise when the deed is done with a deadly weapon.

(R. p. 454, lines 1 - 10.) The judge read his instruction again on the charges of murder, voluntary manslaughter, and involuntary manslaughter after he received a note from the jury requesting clarification of the charges. (R. p. 467, line 8 – p. 472, line 3.)

The Instruction Was Harmless Beyond a Reasonable Doubt

The Respondent would agree with Appellant the trial judge erred in giving the inferred malice instruction because the record contained evidence mitigating or reducing the charge of murder. *See State v. Belcher*, 385 S.C. 597, 685 S.E.2d 802 (2009)(holding the “use of a deadly weapon” implied malice instruction has no place in a murder prosecution where evidence is presented that would reduce, mitigate, excuse or justify the killing). However, in *Chapman v. California*, the Supreme Court held error of even constitutional magnitude may be deemed harmless if, “considering the entire record on appeal, the reviewing court finds beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not contribute to the verdict.” 386 U.S. 18(1967); see also *Taylor v. State*, 312 S.C. 179, 181, 439 S.E.2d 820, 821 (1993). Respondent strongly disagrees with Appellants assertion the trial judge’s error was not harmless.

In the case at bar, the trial judge’s instruction to the jury that it could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon was entirely harmless and had no impact on the ultimate outcome of Appellant’s case based on the verdict returned by the jury. Despite the fact the jury was instructed it could infer malice from the use of a deadly weapon, its verdict reflected it was not misled to believe it could not find the existence of justification, excuse, or mitigation in a situation where a deadly weapon was used, which was the precise type of jury misunderstanding the Supreme Court’s rule in *Belcher* sought to

avoid. See *Belcher*, 385 S.C. at 610, 685 S.E.2d at 808-809 (“[I]nferring malice from the use of a deadly weapon is indeed only a ‘half-truth.’ The absence of justification, excuse or mitigation cannot be inferred from the use of a deadly weapon standing alone. Other facts and evidence (or the absence of other facts and evidence) are required for the fulfillment of these component parts.”). Critically, even though the evidence presented showed Evan’s death resulted from the use of a deadly weapon, the jury demonstrated it found Appellant’s actions did not involve malice and were mitigated under the circumstances by convicting him of the lesser-included offenses of voluntary manslaughter. Cf. *Nation v. State*, 252 Ga. App. 620, 623-624, 556 S.E.2d 196, 200-201 (Ga. Ct. App. 2001) (finding any error that resulted from the giving of an erroneous jury charge was harmless and did not contribute to the verdict where the jury’s verdict demonstrated it was not impacted by the erroneous charge). Thus, the inference of malice jury instruction did not confuse the jury in Appellant’s case or mislead them to believe the use of a deadly weapon alone mandated a finding of malice. See *State v. Chambers*, 194 S.C. 197, 203, 9 S.E.2d 549, 552 (1940) (finding any error resulting from the trial judge’s jury instructions on malice was harmless where the jury convicted the defendants of lesser-included offenses of the offense of ABWIK and, thus, did not find the defendants acted with malice). As a result, any error that could have resulted from the giving of that instruction was entirely harmless and did not impact the verdict in Appellant’s case.

Appellant cites *Belcher*, and *Rose v. Clark*, 478 U.S. 570 (1986) for the proposition the instruction cannot be considered harmless. Appellant is incorrect. In both *Belcher*, and *Rose*, and in *State v. Miller*, 397 S.C. 630, 725 S.E.2d 724 (2012), the courts

said the instruction was subject to the harmless error analysis. In those cases, however, the defendant was convicted of murder and the error could not be harmless. In the instant case, there is no more striking example of harmless error than the jury clearly rejecting the erroneous charge. Appellant's convictions should be affirmed.

ISSUE V

Appellant's argument the trial court mistakenly believed it lacked discretion in sentencing Appellant to consecutive terms is not preserved for review where Appellant failed to object to his sentencing at trial and instead agreed with the court when questioned whether the terms were to run consecutively.

Appellant argues the trial judge erred when he mistakenly believed he had no choice when he sentenced Appellant to a consecutive term of five years' imprisonment for possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-490, the court may impose a concurrent or consecutive term with the principle crime. The trial judge appeared uncertain of the sentencing guidelines, however, and consulted with defense counsel before sentencing Appellant. Appellant not only failed to object when the court indicated it lacked discretion to impose a concurrent sentence, Appellant actually agreed with the judge the sentence would be consecutive. Thus, Appellant's argument on this ground is not preserved for review.

The Issue Was Not Raised at Trial

Following the verdict of guilty on the charges of voluntary manslaughter and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime, the trial court engaged in the following discussion of the sentencing requirements with counsel:

THE COURT: All right. You've got the sentencing sheets? You're ready?

MR. WAGNER: Give me two seconds, Judge.

THE COURT: All right. Now, the voluntary carries two to 30?

MR. WAGNER: I think it's -- I always remember it as zero to 30, but it may have changed. I don't know.

THE COURT: All right. And then the weapons charge is consecutive, right? Five consecutive?

MR. BURR: Correct.

THE COURT: All right. What I'm going to do is go back, unless you object, talk to them, give them the option of coming back in here. Any objection from the State on that?

MR. WAGNER: No, sir.

THE COURT: From the defense?

MR. BURR: Not from the defense, your Honor.

(R. p. 475, lines 1-17.) Later, upon addressing the court prior to sentencing, defense counsel mentioned the consecutive terms:

MR. BURR: Your Honor, he does have two children, one with the wife that you heard from here this week. He has one from the prior marriage. As your Honor mentioned, these charges, these sentences will run consecutively. We would ask that Adam be given no more than a sentence of ten years on the manslaughter and five years on the gun charge, your Honor.

(R. p. 476, lines 11-17.) Later, when the trial judge imposed the sentence, he made the following comments:

THE COURT: The way the law is set up is, obviously, I don't have any real leeway. The possession of a weapon charge is consecutive, so -- and he's doing time now. How many years was he --

MR. WAGNER: It was five years on the grand larceny, your Honor.

THE COURT: All right. The sentence on the voluntary manslaughter, after listening to the evidence -- I think this is fair -- is 25 years provided upon the service of 15, the balance suspended, probation for five. I'm doing that because there is restitution that has to be paid. I'll PTUP that so once the restitution is paid, the probation will be off. That's probably going to be redundant. I'm running that concurrent with the probation. And then on the possession of a weapon, it's just a straight five. I'm running that consecutive to the probation. And the way I've written it, the 3-27-15 verdict for voluntary manslaughter. So 25, 15 and five and then five consecutive. Okay?

(R. p. 477, lines 5-24.)

The Supreme Court of South Carolina has consistently held a challenge to sentencing must be raised at the trial level in order to be preserved for appellate review. *State v. Johnston*, 333 S.C. 459, 462, 510 S.E.2d 423, 425 (1999). *See also State v. Garner*, 304 S.C. 220, 222, 403 S.E.2d 631, 632 (1991) (absent contemporaneous objection, challenge to sentencing is not preserved for appellate review); *State v. Shumate*, 276 S.C. 46, 47, 275 S.E.2d 288, 288 (1981) (defendant's failure to timely object or seek modification of his sentence in the trial court precludes defendant from presenting an objection for the first time on appeal). The Johnson court conceded, however, an appellate court may consider an unpreserved sentencing issue in the interest of judicial economy in "exceptional circumstances." *Johnson*, 333 S.C. 459, 464, 510 S.E.2d 423, 425. The court outlined two such circumstances: the first when the State conceded the trial court imposed an excessive sentence and the second when the defendant could remain imprisoned beyond the appropriate sentence due because of the additional time required to pursue post-conviction relief. *Johnson*, at 464, 510 S.E.2d at 425; *see also State v. Bonner*, 400 S.C. 561, 735 S.E.2d 525 (2012).

Appellant challenges, for the first time on appeal, the trial court's sentence of five consecutive years' imprisonment for his conviction of S.C. Code Ann. §16-23-490, possession of a weapon during a violent crime. Subsection (B) grants the court discretion to run the term concurrent or consecutive to the principle crime. Appellant was sentenced to twenty-five years' imprisonment suspended upon the service of fifteen years and probation for five years for voluntary manslaughter. (R. p. 277, lines 5-24.) Appellant's claim satisfies neither of the *Johnson* court's exceptional circumstances warranting a departure from the court's requirement of issue preservation. First, the trial court was

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